Paredes Nino et al v. United States Customs and Border Protection et al
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MAYRA PAREDES NINO

Individually and as Wife of Decedent

Jose Alfredo Yanez Reyes; J.A.Y.P;

J.R.Y.P., Minors by MAYRA

E,?\REDES NINO, their Guardian ad
item.

Plaintiffs,
VS.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT
OF HOMELAND SECURITY
UNITED STATES CUSTOMS AND
BORDER PROTECTION, UNITED
STATES BORDER PATROL, JANET
NAPOLITANO, THOMAS S.
WINKOWSKI, DAVID AQUILAR,
ALAN BERSIN, KEVIN K.
MCcALLEENAN, MICHAEL J.
FISHER, PAUL A. BEESON,
RICHARD BARLOW, RODNEY S.
SCOTT, CHAD MICHAEL NELSON,
and DORIAN DIAZ and DOES 1
through 25, inclusive,

Defendants

HAYES, Judge:

CASE NO. 13cv0469 WQH
(BGS)

ORDER

Doc. 32

The matter before the Court is the MottorDismiss For Failure to State a Claim

filed by Defendants United States of Anoaxi United States Department of Homeland

Security, United States Customs and Bof@ietection, United States Border Patgol,

and individually named Defendants in thefficial capacity (“Unted States”). (ECFK

No. 27).
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l. Background

On February 27, 2013, Plaintiffs initiatehis action by filing the Complaint.

(ECF No. 1). On August 26, 2013, the Uditstates filed a Motion to Dismiss t
original Complaint. (ECHNo. 9). On September 25, 2013, Plaintiffs filed
opposition. (ECF No. 11). On September2Z®1 3, the parties filed a Joint Motion
Amend Plaintiffs’ Complaint. (ECF Nal3). On September 27, 2013, the Cq
granted leave to amend, and denied Unedes’ Motion to Dismiss as moot. (E(
No. 14).

On October 4, 2013, Plaintiffs Mayraredes Nino, individué and as wife of
Decedent Jose Alfredo Yanez Reyes,AAdY.P., J.R.Y.P., minors by Mayra Pare
Nino, their Guardian ad Litem, filed ther§i Amended Complaint. (ECF No. 17). T
First Amended Complaint alleges eight olaifor relief againdDefendants the Unite
States of America, United States Depsht of Homeland Security, United Sta
Customs and Border Protection, United &d&order Patrol, Janet Napolitano, Thor
S. Winkowski, David Aquilar, Alan Bersitkevin K. McAlleenanMichael J. Fisher
Paul A. Beeson, Richard Barlow, Rodney Sit§¢€had Michael Nelson, Dorian Dia
and Does 1 through 25, inclusivé. Plaintiffs’ first claim for relief is for a “Violation

purt
CF

les
he
d
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nas

Z,

of the Law of Nations” against the Unit&lates, the United States Department of

Homeland Security, United States Cust@and Border Protection, and United Sta
Border Patrol (“United States and Fed&afendant Agencies”), under the Alien Tt
Statute (“ATS”), 28 U.S.C. § 1350d. 11 4-7, 24, 91-106. Plaintiffs’ second claim
relief alleges a Fifth Amendment Due Procésdation against the United States 3
Federal Defendant Agencies, as welDefendants NapolitandYinkowski, Aquilar,
Bersin, McAlleenan, Fisher, BeesoBarlow, and Scott (“Federal Employ
Defendants”). Id. ff 107-115. Plaintiffs’ third claim for relief alleges a F
Amendment Due Process violation agsiDefendants Nelson and Didgl. 1 116 -
123. Plaintiffs’ fourth claim for reliealleges a Fourth Amendment unreason:
seizure against the United States and Fé@mBendant Agencies, as well as Fedsg
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Employee Defendant$d. 1 124-130. Plaintiffs’ fiftislaim for relief alleges a Fourth
Amendment unreasonable seizure against Defendants Nelson anidiCf§z131-138
Plaintiffs’ sixth claim for relief allegesifth Amendment Equal Protection violation
against the United States dfetleral Defendant Agencies well as Federal Employy
Defendants. Id. 1 139-145. Plaintiffs’ seventtlaim for relief alleges a Fifth
Amendment Equal Protection violatiagainst Defendants Nelson and Didd. 1

\U
(¢

146-151. Plaintiffs’ second, third, fourth, fiftsixth, and seventtiaims for relief are
made pursuant tBivens v. Six Unknown Named AgesftEed. Bureau of Narcotic
403 U.S. 388 (1971) Bivensclaims”). (ECF No. 17 1 23Rlaintiffs’ eighth claim for
relief seeks declaratory and injunctive reigainst Federal Employee Defendants gnd
Defendants Nelson and Diald. 1 152-158.
On November 15, 2013, the United Stdtkexl a Motion to Dismiss for Failure
to State a Claim and Lack of Jurisdocti Over Subject Matter pursuant to Rules
12(b)(6) and 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. (ECF No. 27){ Tht
Motion to Dismiss was “brought by the UnitBthtes, the named federal agencies,{and

UJ

the employees sued in their official capaatly, and has notden filed on behalf of
the unserved, individual defendants suethair individual capacities.” (ECF No. 30
at 3). On December 11, 2013, Plaintfffed a response in opposition to the Motion to
Dismiss, and requested leave to amend-tret Amended Complaint. (ECF No. 28).
On December 19, 2013, the United States filed a reply. (ECF No. 30).

A. Allegations of the First Amended Complaint

Atdusk on June 21, 2011, Jose Alfredo¥aReyes (“Yanez”and Jose Ibarrs
Murrieta (“Murrieta”), crossed the border fravtexico to the United States togethger.
(ECF No. 17 § 27). Yanez and Murrieta eatethe United States through a hole infthe
primary border fence abutting Mieo, and “emerged intodried-out concrete culvert

D

between the primary border fence (the cortedaolid metal fence closest to Mexigo)
and the secondary border fence (the haghtchain link fence closest to the United
States). The culvert runs leifrom the primary fence ttuart’s Bridge, which abuts
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28

the secondary fenced.

Murrieta led the pair and traversed taegth of the culvert and climbed out
Stuart’s Bridge.ld. § 28. Murrieta encountered Ageébhad Michael Nelson (“Ager
Nelson”) at Stuart’s Bridgeld. Murrieta descended back into the culvert “attemp
to evade” Agent Nelson and Ageborian Diaz (“Agent Diaz”).ld. Yanez, who ha

stayed in the culvert, escagbback into Mexico throughe hole in the primary borde

fence. Id. 1 32. Murrieta “evaded Agent Nels and ran south toward the prima
fence where Yanez had just escapdd.” § 33. Agent Nelson caught Murrieta in |
culvert near the priary border fenceld. Murrieta and Agent Nelson “grappl[ed] f
a short time.”ld. § 34. Murrieta escapedigent Nelson’s holénd in attempting tg
evade Agent Nelson, Murrieta tripped and fell to the grouiald J 34-35. Whe
Murrieta stood up, Agent Nelson “grabbednhby the neck in an attempt to subc
him.” Id. 1 35. “Murrieta and Agent Nelson begaappling again in the dirt road, a
Agent Nelson swept Murrieta’s legs and wrestled him to the ground. Agent Nelsg
“admittedly began to strike” Murrieta while pinning him to the grountd” 9 36.
Meanwhile, “Yanez climbed into a tree thaahed against the southern side of
primary fence near where Agent Nelson Bhdrieta were grappling ... Yanez was o\
United States Territory as he was peenngr the fence to observe those eventd.”
137. “The Agents asséhiat during Nelson’s struggleithr Murrieta, Yanez threw twi
rocks (per Agent Nelson) or one or pagitwo rocks (per Agent Diaz) at Age
Nelson.” Id.  38. Agents Nelson and Diaz “assert that while Agent Nelsor
Murrieta struggled on the ground, Yanez thieenail-studded board that struck Agg
Nelson in the head, gihcing off his hat.”Id. { 39. “According to Agent Nelson,
about the time that Yanez allegedly thréhe board, Diaz arrived to help subg
Murietta. Agent Diaz allegedlpld Yanez to get off the fee, and then began helpi
Agent Nelson get control of Muriettald. § 40.

Agent Nelson acknowledges that then, without any warning and any

further alleged throwing of a roakr a board by Yanez, Agent Nelson

pulled away from the scuffle witMurrieta. Agent Diaz removed his
sidearm from its holster, uttered not a single additional word, and shot
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Yanez in the head ... Yanez fell cuftthe tree, dead or dying, on the
southern side of the primary fendayt at any event ... always within
United States Territory.
Id. T 41.
Murrieta’s account “differs markedlyom those of the Agents.Id.  45.
Murrieta asserts that Yanez nevkrough [sic{ anything at Nelson or
anyone else. Indeed, tebape and height of the tree, the height of the
primary border fence, and the distance of the tree and the tfence from
Agent Nelson made it impossible foriYez (or any person) to throw rocks
or wood at the agent wilkthal force or accuracy.
Id. § 46 Instead, “both Agent Nelson and Agent Diaz had Murrieta down o
ground and were beating himld. § 47. In an effort tgtop the attack “Yanez yellg
that he was going to use his cellphone ke tadeo and pictures of the beatingd.

49. “Upon hearing Yanez's threat to rectitd Agents’ attack on Murietta, Agent Di

N the
d

cv4

stopped beating Murietta, stood up, andhaait warning or provocation, shot Yanez

in the head.”ld.

The Agents’ use of excessive, letiiatce against Yanez did not spring
from their spontaneous acts. Instetiey were acting pursuant to, and
while implementing, a Rocking Policy that has the imprimatur of the
highest-ranking DHS officials. Pursutdo this unlawful Rocking Policy,
Border Patrol agents along the souther border regularly use excessive
Iet?al fci_rtce against persons ofrpeived Hispanic descent'and Mexican
nationality.

Id. 119 56-57.
Il.  Contentions of the Parties

Defendants move to dismiss the First Amended Complaint on the follg
grounds:

(1) The United States and federagencies cannot be sued for
constitutional torts; o

(2) The individually named [D]efendantannot be sued for constitutional
torts brought against them in'their official capacities; o

(3) The United States has not waigeyereign immunity for a “Violation
of the Law of Nations”; _ o _ _

4) Plaintiffs have not stated a claim for injunctive relief;

5) Plaintiffs have not stated a claim for declaratory relief;

6) Mayra Paredes Nino has no stagdio sue in this action; and

7) Plaintiffs are not entitled tdtarneys’ fees in this action.

(ECF No. 27-1 at 9).
Specifically, with respect to thBivensclaims against the United States 3
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Federal Defendant Agencies,Brdants contend that “[&jvenscause of action ma
only be brought against government officargheir individual capacities” and th

y
At

“[t]his Court lacks subject matter jurisdien over constitutional claims against the

United States and federal agenciesd’ at 11-12. With respect tH&vensclaims
against the Federal Employee Defendant$edsants contend that “the United Stg
has not waived its sovereign immuniidy suits seeking money damages urizleens
and that “[tlhese f@eral employees cannbé named as individual defendants in i
Bivenscause of action in their official capacitiesd. at 13. With respect to Plaintiff:
claim for “Violation of Law of Nations,'Defendants contend ah“Plaintiffs cannot
state a cause of action under the ATS, and wbiiee other treaties, declarations,
legal norms listed in their First Amended Cdaipt give rise to a cause of actiorid.
at 14.

Plaintiffs contend that they “can i@eer against the named governmental ent
as sovereign immunity has been effectivebived.” (ECF No. 28 at 10). Plaintif
contend that the Federal Tort ClaimstA28 U.S.C. 8§ 1346(b) (“FTCA”) waives th
United States’ sovereign immunity for tBevensclaims. Id. at 11. Plaintiffs alst
contend that the United States has was@dereign immunity for their “Violation g
the Law of Nations” claim, pursuant tbe Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 13
(“ATS”). Id. at 12-13. Plaintiffs contend thattATS “applies to the facts at hand &
allows liability to attach to the U.S. Governmentd.

lll. Standard of Review

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)més dismissal for “failure to stat

a claim upon which relief can be granted.” HedCiv. P. 12(b)(6). Federal Rule

Civil Procedure 8(a) provides: “A pleading tlssites a claim faelief must contain ..

a short and plain statementtbe claim showing that th@eader is entitled to relie

tes
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.

Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is approfeiavhere the complaint lacks a cognizable

legal theory or sufficient facts support a cognizable legal theorgee Balistreri v
Pacifica Police Dep’t901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990).
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When considering a motion to disse] a court must accept as true

“well-pleaded factual allegations.”Ashcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009).

However, a court is not “required to accept as true allegmtithat are merel
conclusory, unwarranted dections of fact, or unreasonable inference&sgrewell v.

Golden State Warriot266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 200T)n sum, for a complaint t¢

all

N—r

vy

survive a motion to dismiss, the non-clusory factual content, and reasonaple

inferences from that content, must lausibly suggestive of a claim entitling t
plaintiff to relief.” Moss v. U.S. Secret Sers.72 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir. 200
(quotations omitted).

he
9)

Rule 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules o¥/CProcedure allows a defendant to mgve

for dismissal on grounds that the court lagkssdiction over the subject matter. Fed.
R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1). The burden is on {plaintiff to establish the court has subject

matter jurisdiction over an actiorAssoc. of Medical Colleges v. United Stafsds/
F.3d 770, 778-779 (9th Cir. 2000). In resolvargattack on a court’s jurisdiction, t
court may go outside the pleadings and mersvidence beyond the complaint relat
to jurisdiction without converting the rtion to dismiss into a motion for summg
judgment.Safe Air For Everyone v. Doyl&73 F.3d 1035, 1039 (9th Cir. 2004). Iss
regarding subject matter jurisdiction may fagsed at any time, even on appeal,
motion or sua sponte by the court. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(I5(®ll v. Cleveland316
F.3d 822, 826-27 (9th Cir. 2002).
V. Discussion

The Motion to Dismiss is “brought by the United States, the named feder
agencies, and the employeeged in their official capacity only, and has not been
filed on behalf of the unserved, individual defendants sued in their individual
capacities.” (ECF No. 30 at 3). The@t does not consider Plaintiff's claims
against named Defendants in their individual capacity.

A. Bivens Claims Against United States and Federal Agencies

al

The First Amended Complaint allegesBixensclaims against the United States

-7 - 13cv0469 WQH (BGS)
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and Federal Defendant Agencies. (ECENOT 9-23, 107-151). Defendants contend
that “[t]his Court lacks subject matter jsdiction over constitutional claims against the
United States and federal agencies” becaasereign immunity has not been waived.
Id. at 11-12. Plaintiffs contend the Feddrart Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. Section 1346(b)
(“FTCA”") waives the United States’ sowgn immunity. (ECF No. 28 at 11)).
Plaintiffs contend that, “28 U.S.C. Section 1346(b) grants the federal district gourt
jurisdiction over a certain category of claifoswhich the United States has waived its
sovereign immunity and ‘relered itself liable.”ld. (citingRichards v. United Statep
369 U.S. 1,6 (1962)). Plaintiffs assert that this category includes claims: (1) against tl
United States; (2) for money damages; (3)ifgury or loss of property, or personal
injury or death; (4) caused by the neglg or wrongful act or omission of any
employee of the Government; (5) whileting within the scope of his office or

employment; (6) under circumstances whigre United States, as private person
would be liable to the clainmain accordance with the laof the place where the act pr
omission occurredld. (citing 28 U.S.C. § 1356(b)). Plaintiffs conteBidrensclaims
alleged against the United Statand Federal Defendant Agess are actionable. (EGF
No. 17 at 11 9-21, 107-51).
The United States, as a sovereign, is immune fromdnited States v. Mitchel

445 U.S. 535, 538 (1980):lt is axiomatic that Congressional waiver of soverelign
iImmunity is a prerequisite to any suit brought against the United Stdkedérts v
United States498 F.2d 520, 525 (9th Cir. 1974). Tdeited States “may not be sued
without its consent and the terms of saohsent define the court’s jurisdictiorBaker
v. United States817 F.2d 560, 562 (9th Cir. 1987A waiver of sovereign immunit)
as contained in any statute “will be striatignstrued, in terms afs scope, in favor of
the sovereign.Lane v. Pengb18 U.S. 187, 192 (1996). “A party bringing a causg of

action against the federal government bears the burden of showing an unequivo

T~

waiver of immunity.” Baker, 817 F.2d at 562.
The United States has not waiveovereign immunity for lawsuits under

-8- 13cv0469 WQH (BGS)




© 00 N o g M~ W N PP

N NN N N N N NDND P B P B P P P PP
© N o 00 A W N P O © © N OO o » W N B O

constitutional tort theories recognizedBivens “Bivensdoes not provide a means
cutting through the sovereign immunpf the United States....Arnsberg v. United
States757 F.2d 971, 980 (9th Cir. 1985). Thenthi Circuit has also recognized th
the FTCA’s waiver provision is limited &iatetort-based claimsSee Delta Sav. Bar
v. United States265 F.3d 1017 (9th Cir. 2001). Delta Savingsthe court held thg
the violation of a federal statute thatcarred in California was not cognizable un
the FTCA (even though the statute providguligate federal cause of action), beca
“any duty that the United Statesved to plaintiffs musbe found in California stat
law.” Id. at 1025. The First Amended Compldaits to show an “unequivocal waiv
of immunity.” Baker, 817 F.2d at 562.

B. Bivens Claims Against Federal Employees in Official Capacities

The First Amended Complaint alleges ddtvens claims against Feder
Employee Defendants in their officiahpacities. (ECF No. 17 11 9-23, 107-1%
Defendants seek to disssi“the ‘official’ capacityBivensclaims alleged in Plaintiffs

of

lat

—+

der
Lise

e

First Amended Complainton the basis that the United States “has not waived

sovereign immunity for lawsuits undeprestitutional tort theories recognized
Bivens” (ECF No. 30 at 3; ECF No. 27-1 at 12).

n

“It has long been the rule that the lb&sovereign immunity cannot be avoided

by naming officers and employees o€tbnited States as defendantsSilbert v.
DaGrossa 756 F.2d 1455, 1458 (9th Cir. 1985) (citirayson v. Domestic & Foreig

Commerce Corp337 U.S. 682, 688 (1949)). A suit agstifederal employees in the
official capacities is a sudgainst the United Statesd. “[A] Bivensaction can be

maintained against a defendant in his arihdividual capacity only, and not in his
her official capacity.” Vaccaro v. Dobre81 F.3d 854, 857 (9th Cir. 1996) (quoti
Daly-Murphy v. Winston837 F.2d 348, 355 (9th Cir. 1987)). TBevensclaims

against Federal Employee Defendants in tbfficial capacities must be dismissed.

C. “Violation of the Law of Nations” Claim

The First Amended Complaint alleges that the “actions and omissions |
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United States] were the direct and proxinaase of Yanez's deaimd give rise to «
cause of action for a tort in violation ofthaw of nations.” (ECF No. 17 at 11 92-9
The First Amended Complaint alleges that the United States violated a nun
treaties, norms, and “interti@nal and domestic strictures” which prohibit “extrajudic
killings.” Id. at 24 - 29.

=7

3).
ber
al

Plaintiffs contend that the “violation tiie law of nations” by the United States

Is actionable pursuant to the Alien T&tatute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350 (“ATS”), whi¢

provides that “the district courts shall hawgginal jurisdiction of any civil action b
an alien for a tort only, committed in violation of the law of nations or a treaty (¢
United States.” (ECF No. 28 at 12-13n their Opposition to the United State
Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiffs specifically camd that the United States has violated
Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, which “repests an ‘international norm’ actional
under the ATS.”ld. at 13. Plaintiffs contend théite ATS “applies to the facts at ha
and allows liability to attach to the U.S. Governmend’

Defendants contend that none of the “tiessg declarations, and ‘international a
domestic strictures’™ cited in the First Aanded Complaint “create a private right
action against the United States.” (ECF R@-1 at 15). Defendds further conteng
that “... the ATS does not constitute a waiver of sovereign immunity so as to
suits against the United Statesd! at 15. Defendants contend that “the ATS
jurisdictional statute only, creating no neauses of action. Thus, Plaintiffs can

state a cause of action under the ATS, and wdrnlee other treat®e declarations or

legal norms listed in their First Amended Cdaapt give rise to a cause of actiorid.
at 14. With respect to ¢hTreaty of Guadalupe Hidalgoefendants contend that th
cannot be sued under the “Treaty of Guadaljolalgo” and “there has never bee
waiver of sovereign immunity by Congress for such a suit.” (ECF No. 30
Defendants contend that as a general iaoternational treaties do not create priv
rights of enforcement in federal courtsl.

The “[ATS] has been interpted as a jurisdiction stée only—it has not been held
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to imply any waiver of sovereign immunityTobar v. United State§39 F.3d 1191
1196 (9th Cir. 2011) (quotin@oldstar (Panama) S.A. v. United Sta@s7 F.2d 956
968 (4th Cir. 1992))see alsdndustria Panificadora S.A. v. United Staté57 F.2d
886, 887 (D.C. Cir. 1992Koohiv. United State876 F.2d 1328, 1333 (9th Cir. 199]
The ATS creates no new causes of actteosa v. Alvarez-Machaib42 U.S. 692, 74
(2004). Therefore, “any party assertinggdiction under the [ATS] must establis
independent of that statute, that theited States has consented to suitdbar, 639
F.3d at 1196. As previously discussed, a waiver of the sovereign immunity

United States must be “unequivocally expresséadnconia Assoc. v. United State

536 U.S. 129, 141 (2002). “[A] decision to ceeatprivate right of action is one bet
left to legislative judgment” and courts arductant to infer a private right of actic
unless the legislature supplies one expresShsa542 U.S. at 727.

The Court finds that Plaiififs have not established that the United States
unequivocally expressed its consent to puisuant to the ATS or any of the varig
treaties, norms, or “domestic and interoaél strictures” cited in the First Amend
Complaint. The First Amended Complaint fadsstate a claim fdwiolation of the law
of nations.”

The Courtdoes not discuss Plaintiffs’ regiisdor declaratory or injunctive relig

or the United States’ arguments as todiag, because the Cduras dismissed the

underlying claims.
V.  Conclusion

IT ISHEREBY ORDERED that the Unit&tates’ Motion to Dismiss (ECF Np.

27)is GRANTED. Plaintiffs’ request foedve to amend the First Amended Compl
is granted. Plaintiffs shall filany second amended complaint witthimty (30) days
from the date this Order is filed.

DATED: March 13, 2014

D i 2. Nagea
WILLIAM Q. HAYES
United States District Judge
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